The role of smoking cessation services within the Targeted Lung Health Checks programme

Authors: Professor Rachael Murray, Nathan Davies, Hazel Cheeseman



October 2022

Contents

1.	C	ontext	3					
	1.1	Lung cancer screening in the UK	3					
	1.2	Benefits of smoking cessation in the context of LCS						
	1.3	The Targeted Lung Health Check programme	5					
	1.4	Current provision of smoking cessation services	5					
2.	Sr	moking cessation provision in the context of LCS	7					
	2.1	Attendance at screening	7					
	2.2	Scan outcome	7					
	2.3	Attendance at LCS as a motivator for quit attempts	8					
	2.3	Combining smoking cessation interventions with LCS	8					
	2.4	Attitudes towards smoking cessation within LCS	. 12					
3.	C	urrent smoking cessation provision on TLHC programme	.14					
	3.1	Formal national evaluation	.14					
	3.2.	Analysis of routine performance data	.15					
	3.3.	Survey of project leads for TLHC	.16					
4.	Re	eflections on the integration of smoking cessation support	.18					
	4.1	TLHC project leads	.18					
	4.2	Evidence from research studies	.19					
5. so	Co creen	ost-effectiveness data for smoking cessation programmes linked to lung cancer ning	. 20					
	5.1	Existing modelling studies	. 20					
	5.2 scre	Modelling the likely impact of offering smoking cessation support as part of lung canc ening	er 23					
	5.3	The cost of rolling out integrated smoking cessation with a national screening	.					
~	prog	gramme	24					
6.	Di	iscussion and recommendations	.25					
1.	Re	eterences	31					

1. Context

1.1 Lung cancer screening in the UK

After smoking cessation, screening with low dose computed tomography (LDCT) is the most effective way to reduce lung cancer mortality. Unlike a number of other cancer types, however, there is currently no national screening programme for lung cancer in the UK. The UK National Screening Committee (UK NSC) advises ministers and the NHS on population screening and supports the implementation of screening programmes. The UK NSC's last review of lung cancer screening (LCS), carried out 15 years ago in 2007, did not recommend screening.¹ However, since then two large scale randomised controlled trials have provided conclusive evidence as to the efficacy of LCS, with reports of reductions in mortality of 8-26% amongst men and 26-61% amongst women undergoing LDCT screening in the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST) and the Dutch-Belgian lung cancer screening trial (NELSON).^{2,3} The NLST also reported a 6.7% decrease in all-cause mortality.² Recent analysis from five UK-based lung cancer screening programmes, including over 11,000 scans conducted between 2011 and 2020 found a prevalence screen detected lung cancer of 2.2%.⁴ The benefits of LDCT are therefore twofold; detecting cancer more frequently, at an earlier stage, and saving lives through other health interventions. Given that lung cancer is more common in socioeconomically disadvantaged groups, an effective screening programme could also contribute to reducing health inequalities, particularly if current smokers are successfully engaged.

The UK NSC has recently published an interim health technology assessment that strongly indicated the programme would be cost effective⁵ and following a consultation between March – June 2022 the UK NSC has recently recommended screening for people aged 55 to 74 years and identified as being at high risk for lung cancer.⁶ With regard to smoking cessation, the recommendation states there should be "consideration of alignment with smoking cessation services within and beyond the eligible population", though provides no further detail on organisation.

If a decision were made to implement a national LCS programme, the UK would not be the first country to implement such a model; a number of current guidelines recommend LCS from a number of countries, and also include recommendation for the offer of smoking cessation intervention to participants who smoke.⁷⁻¹² It is, therefore, vital to assess the available evidence to delineate the most effective way of integrating effective smoking cessation support to this population who are at high risk of smoking related disease.

The overall success of LCS programmes may be significantly influenced by smoking behaviour and there is often a discussion of whether LCS may provide a "teachable moment" or "license to smoke".^{13–15} The "teachable moment" has been described as an event or set of circumstances

3

which leads individuals to positively change their health behaviour. In the context of LCS, it has been suggested that this could be an opportunity to inform participants of the harmful effects of smoking and increase their motivation to stop.^{15–17} Conversely, there has been a concern raised that a reassuring scan result may induce a false sense of security, in that participants feel protected against the harmful effects of their smoking and thus may be less likely to attempt to stop.¹⁸ Currently available research evidence suggests that this 'license to smoke' is not present, and indeed a clear scan result has been reported as being perceived as a 'clean slate' motivating a quit attempt.¹⁹ Only 1.7% of continuing smokers in the Manchester LHC reported that the screening made them 'worry less about smoking'.²⁰ However, there is potential that a clear scan result could promote continuation of smoking if not accompanied by effective communication of risk²¹ and thus this needs to be considered in any future intervention.

1.2 Benefits of smoking cessation in the context of LCS

LCS is a complex intervention, and its cost-utility is dependent on outcomes beyond the primary measure of reducing lung cancer mortality; it is dependent on acting as an important intervention for reducing all-cause morbidity and mortality.

Smoking cessation is the most effective way to reduce risk from lung cancer,²² given that smoking is the cause of over 70% of lung cancer cases in the UK²³ and an even greater proportion of lung cancer deaths.²⁴ Stopping smoking cannot entirely eradicate harms from years of smoking cigarettes, and there is a strong link between 20-30 year historical smoking trends.²⁵ However, quitting at any age reduces the risk of dying from smoking-related diseases.²⁶ For those aged 65, it is estimated those who quit smoking between the ages of 55-59 will have half the risk of lung cancer death compared to current smokers.²⁷ Another study found that for high-risk individuals aged 55-74, seven years of smoking cessation reduced lung-cancer specific mortality by 20%.²⁸ Of those diagnosed with non-small cell lung cancer, those who quit smoking have a 21.6 months longer median overall survival time compared to those who continue smoking, as well as reduced risk for all-cause mortality and disease progression.²⁹ Continued smoking in cancer patients also increases risk of developing a second primary cancer.²²

The effects of smoking cessation extend beyond lung cancer, both in terms of health benefit and cost-effectiveness. The 2020 Surgeon General report identifies 11 additional cancers caused by smoking, the risk of all being reduced with smoking cessation.³⁰ Further, people who smoke are also at risk of premature death due to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), heart disease and stroke. Subjects eligible for lung cancer screening have a 3 times greater relative risk death due to heart disease than a non-smoker.³¹ 62% of participants in the Lung Screening Uptake Trial had coronary artery calcification present on the scan.³² Further, nearly one quarter of participants undergoing LDCT screening in the International Early Lung Cancer Action Programme (I-ELCAP) were found to have emphysema.³³ There is thus a potential opportunity to provide better management and reduce the clinical impact of these conditions through effective smoking cessation intervention, building on the teachable moment in those attending for LCS. Cao and colleagues have highlighted that adding tobacco treatment to lung cancer screening will decrease deaths by an additional 14% and increase the overall number of life years gained by 81%.³⁴ Given long term conditions such as those listed above are more prevalent in more deprived groups (people in the poorest social class have a 60 per cent higher prevalence than those in the richest social class and 30 per cent more severity of disease³⁵), any intervention addressing these conditions has potential decrease health inequalities, and smoking cessation is one of the most effective interventions available.

1.3 The Targeted Lung Health Check programme

Announced in 2019, the Targeted Lung Health Checks (TLHC) programme is an NHS England (NHSE) commissioned service currently being piloted in 23 areas in England³⁶ and increasing to 43 areas from 2022. The programme runs in areas of England with high rates of lung cancer mortality, inviting individuals aged 55-74 years who have ever smoked to an appointment where their risk of lung cancer is calculated. Those who are at or above a certain risk threshold for lung cancer are then eligible for a LDCT scan. The protocol for the programme includes sparse detail on the provision of smoking cessation and there is no standard specified approach. It does state that all those attending for the lung health check who smoke be advised on smoking cessation, including those not meeting the inclusion criteria for a scan, and smoking cessation advice should be incorporated into written correspondence. Advice should be face to face where participants attend.

The protocol goes on to state that enhanced smoking cessation interventions are encouraged, including the use of pharmacotherapy, and that there should be sufficient capacity and infrastructure to deliver the programme, including smoking cessation support and advice. There is limited guidance as to how the support should be delivered, or details about how the smoking cessation provision will be funded. Given the move to local authority responsibility for smoking cessation services and cuts to public health budgets and smoking cessation services in recent years there remain numerous unanswered questions about how this will work in practice and whether the smoking cessation response can be scaled if the TLHC is further expanded.

1.4 Current provision of smoking cessation services

Smoking cessation services are a vital tobacco control intervention. Those who use these services in England are up to three times as likely to quit as those who make a quit attempt unaided.³⁷ Smoking cessation services in England were historically commissioned by the NHS. In 2013, however, the responsibility for public health transferred to local government and are now funded by the Department for Health and Social Care through the Public Health Grant.³⁸

The leading sources of information on England's smoking cessation services are the NHS Digital Stop Smoking Service reports³⁹ and ASH/Cancer Research UK annual survey of local authorities.⁴⁰

The 2021 ASH/Cancer Research UK survey, which covered all local authorities with public health budget for the questions relating to service provision, found two-thirds (67%) of local authorities commissioned a universal specialist smoking cessation service, 9% commissioned a specialist service restricted to specific groups (e.g. people with mental health conditions), 15% commissioned a lifestyle service and 7% commissioned a service in primary care only. 1% had telephone helpline only and 1% no service at all.⁴⁰ The capacity of existing services is stretched. In the context of a 24% real-term per capita cut to the broader public health grant between 2015/16 and 2020/21, net expenditure by local authorities in England on smoking cessation services declined from around £130 million to £71 million between 2013/14 and 2020/21. Over the same time period, and amongst those local authorities who submitted data to the NHS Stop Smoking Service, there has been an overall decline of 66% in numbers setting a quit date with services. This figure masks significant variation, however, with some local authorities seeing more than a 90% decline in quit dates while others have had less than 30% decline.³⁹

In recent years there has been a move towards expanding the role of the NHS in identifying and supporting smokers within secondary care.^{41,42} The NHS Long Term Plan has recognised the importance of smoking as a key contributor to health inequality, committing to ensuring that all inpatients admitted to hospital that smoke are offered tobacco dependency treatment, funded by the NHS, by 2023/24. In addition, there are newly funded pathways in maternity and secondary mental health services. The NHS is also investing in community pharmacy support for smokers to access on discharge and piloting new services for NHS staff who smoke. ⁴³ Smoking is a strong risk factor for of all five of the clinical priorities in the Core20PLUS5 programme, which forms NHS England's core approach to reducing health inequalities.⁴⁴

Further, the most recent NICE guidance makes it clear that health care professionals should ascertain the smoking status of their patients and provides detail on the range of evidence-based smoking cessation interventions available to support smokers to stop. It does not, however, resolve the outstanding issues of how services should be funded.⁴⁵

2. Smoking cessation provision in the context of LCS

2.1 Attendance at screening

Attendance at lung cancer screening has been shown to increase quit rates in comparison to control groups. Data from 19 studies included as part of a recent review of smoking cessation interventions in LCS reported baseline smoking cessation rates of between 7 and 23% amongst smokers participating in research studies.⁴⁶ Five key RCTs compared smoking outcomes between screened and control arms of LCS studies. The Danish Lung Cancer Screening Trial (DLCST), German LUng Cancer Screening Intervention (LUSI) and Dutch-Belgian NEderlands Leuvens Screening ONderzoek (NELSON) studies reported no difference study arms using intention to treat analyses at follow up points up to five years post screening.^{18,47-49} The UK Lung Cancer Screening (UKLS) and Italian Lung Cancer Screening Trial (ITALUNG) studies, however, both reported higher quit rates in the screening arm compared to control group participants up to four years after screening,^{50,51} thus the screening process in itself could be considered a 'teachable moment' for smoking cessation, prompting quit attempts in those attending. Comparing data from these trials is difficult, however, since each trial employed a different intensity of smoking cessation provision (for example minimal intervention in UKLS and NELSON compared to personalised counselling in LUSI).

2.2 Scan outcome

Both UKLS and ITALUNG reported that participants who received an abnormal baseline scan result were more likely to quit smoking than those in the control arm, whilst there was no difference between those with a normal scan result and the control group. Normal scans were not associated with increased smoking or relapse in those who had previously quit.^{50,51} The DLCST, NLST, UKLS, Early Lung Cancer Action Project (ELCAP), a Mayo Clinic study and Pittsburgh Lung Screening Study (PluSS) all reported higher quit rates following an abnormal scan result or referral to a physician as compared to a normal scan result.^{48,50,52–56} Current smokers with an incidental finding participating in the Lung Screen Uptake Trial (LSUT) more frequently reported cutting down on smoking rather than making a quit attempt compared with those who had indeterminate results.²¹ Communicating incidental results may therefore be an opportunity to capitalize on the teachable moment offered within LCS, motivating a change than could reduce future health implications resulting from disease progression.

2.3 Attendance at LCS as a motivator for quit attempts

A community-based Lung Health Check (LHC) in Manchester found that 12 months after their baseline scan, 29% of current smokers reported that the LHC had made them try to stop, with a further 44% reporting that they had considered quitting. Of those who had successfully quit between scans, 55% attributed their quit to the LHC.²⁰ Three guarters of participants in the US ELCAP reported increased motivation for quitting.⁵⁷ Kummer et al conducted semi-structured interviews with current and ex-smokers attending for an LDCT lung cancer screening scan as part of the LSUT, with some participants stating that they felt motivated to quit in response to the invitation for a LHC, after receiving an indeterminate scan result or after having a discussion with a clinical staff at the appointment. Some participants who had not quit reported that this was because they had not specifically been told to quit by the clinical team and were not concerned enough by their indeterminate scan result. Low confidence in quitting was reported by some participants, despite high motivation and the LCS process overall was not always a motivator to change their behaviour.²¹ Participants in the Quit Smoking Lung Health Intervention Trial (QuLIT) based within a TLHC in London reported that the CT scan was often seen as a powerful tool in changing their mindset regarding smoking, acting as a prompt or wake up call to consider quitting, regardless of scan outcome.⁵⁸

2.4 Combining smoking cessation interventions with LCS

A systematic review synthesizing evidence regarding combining smoking cessation interventions with LDCT lung cancer screening published up until May 2018 identified nine studies meeting inclusion criteria (five RCTs, four observational studies with a control group). The authors reported that most studies were of poor to fair quality and that there was insufficient data to suggest a particular approach to smoking cessation in the LCS setting.⁵⁹ Given the lack of setting specific evidence, another systematic review was published in the same year which identified data on effective interventions among populations likely to be eligible for LCS (based on age and smoking history) and identified 85 trials for inclusion. The authors reported that electronic/web-based interventions, in-person counselling and pharmacotherapy interventions significantly increased the odds of abstinence from smoking (telephone counselling increased the chances of successfully achieving abstinence but not significantly so); at 12 months only inperson counselling and pharmacotherapy remained efficacious.⁶⁰ Whilst the studies included were not conducted in the LCS setting and there was no specific mention of socio-economic status, the similarities in study population suggest that the findings of this review should be considered for future interventions. Since the above reviews were published, the evidence base in this area has grown, though interventions tested, settings and outcomes measures have lacked consistency.

Between June 2015 and December 2017, 345 smokers participating in the Alberta Lung Cancer Screening Study were randomised to seven sessions of telephone-based smoking cessation counselling intervention, personalised to motivation and addiction level and incorporating the lung cancer screening result (including emphysema) versus usual care (information leaflet). A referral to counselling was made at the time baseline screening results were communicated to participants in order to maximise the impact of scan outcomes. NRT and pharmacologic cessation aids were not provided as part of the study but was available for over-the-counter purchase and covered by most private medical insurance plans. At least one telephone contact was recorded for 73.7% of participants in the intervention arm. Thirty-day self-reported smoking abstinence at 12 months post randomisation was 14% in the intervention group and 12.6% in the usual care group.⁶¹ At 24 months, smoking abstinence increased to 21.4% and 18.3% respectively.⁶²

In 2017, three pilot sites in Ontario launched lung cancer screening with opt-out smoking cessation embedded in the pathway. Hospital based cessation support was scheduled during the LDCT appointment, with the intervention comprising a 10-minute behavioural counselling session, recommendation or prescription for pharmacotherapy and arrangements for proactive follow up. 89% of screen-eligible smokers accepted hospital-based cessation counselling, with 93% of survey respondents indicating that they were satisfied with the support they received; indicating that this approach may be positively received by participants in screening programmes.⁶³

Attendees at the Manchester Lung Health Check pilot, the first community based LCS in the UK, who smoked were provided with brief smoking cessation advice and signposted to a smoking cessation service. Twelve months after the LHC, 10.2% of participants had stopped smoking for at least 4 weeks; of these 79% reported being quit for over 6 months.²⁰

Analysis of data from the NLST retrospectively reviewed delivery of the 5As (Ask, Advise, Assess, Assist and Arrange) by the primary care providers to smokers participating in the NLST and linked this to self-reported cessation outcomes. The authors reported that delivery of 'assist' and 'arrange' follow up delivered by primary care were associated with increased quitting, whereas delivery of the less intensive 'ask', 'advise' and 'assess' were not different between study quitters and continued smokers.⁴⁶

Studies comparing clinician-delivered behavioural counselling alone to usual care have not shown an effect on self-reported quitting,⁵⁸ though a study by Taylor et al reported a benefit of multiple sessions of telephone counselling when using biochemical validation of quitting.⁶⁵ Studies which combined behavioural counselling from a clinician with pharmacotherapies have shown that such interventions are feasible and efficacious. The Continuous Observation of SMOking Subjects (COSMOS II) trial reported that a sub group of participants who participated in the smoking cessation programme comprising behavioural support with a cognitive-

9

behavioural psychologist and pharmacotherapy were three times more likely to quit smoking, and 57% of participants reported abstinence for at least 6 months.⁶⁶ Analysis of the Early Lung Cancer Detection in High Risk Individuals (MILD) trial reported 48.7%, 33.7% and 19.8% sustained 3-, 6- and 12-month smoking abstinence respectively following a cessation intervention comprising behavioural support plus varenicline.⁶⁷ Low intensity internet-based interventions in the NELSON study (computer-tailored smoking cessation information) and from the Mayo Clinic trial (a list of internet resources) have not shown a significant benefit over standard written materials.^{68,69}

The COSMOS-II Italian trial was the first to report the effectiveness of using e-cigarettes plus telephone behavioural counselling as part of the cessation package offered to LCS attendees recruited at one study site. No differences in cessation were reported between groups receiving nicotine containing e-cigarettes, non-nicotine containing e-cigarettes and those receiving behavioural telephone counselling only. Participants in the nicotine containing e-cigarette group smoked significantly fewer cigarettes than other groups at 6-month follow up.⁷⁰

In 2015, the National Cancer Institute in the US announced a funding opportunity, SCALE (Smoking Cessation within the Context of Lung Cancer Screening), to support projects testing smoking cessation interventions for patients undergoing LCS to build an evidence base for effective intervention. Six clinical trials were initially funded under the call, plus one additional trial and another funded by the Veterans Health Administration are testing various permutations of intervention strategy and intensity with a core of data collection measures to allow meaningful comparisons.⁷¹ One of the trials has recently reported their initial results, finding that 8 weeks of telephone counselling plus NRT resulted in significantly higher quit rates than 3 x 20 minute telephone sessions plus 2-weeks of NRT (3 month 7-day point prevalent validated quit rates 9.1% vs 3.9%; self-reported quit rates 14.3% vs 7.9% respectively).⁷² Once complete, these eight studies will considerably add to the evidence base for effective interventions.

The first research study to provide evidence regarding the integration of smoking cessation support within English TLHC programmes comes from QuLIT.⁵⁸ On randomly allocated days, QuLIT offered either immediate access to free pharmacotherapy to support quit attempts plus six sessions of face-to-face one-to-one cessation support; or usual care, which comprised very brief advice. The trial was delivered as part of a TLHC delivered at the Royal Brompton Hospital in London. 65 smokers attended on intervention days and 50 on usual care days, with 48 and 36 smokers providing follow up data and 14 and 4 smokers reporting 7-day point prevalent smoking abstinence respectively at 3-months after the LHC (21.5% and 7.2% respectively, assuming those not contactable were continuing to smoke).⁵⁸

As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, face to face support delivered as part of the QuLIT-1 trial was suspended and the trial modified to provide six sessions of remote smoking cessation support via telephone, with attempts to deliver the first call on the same day as the TLHC (QuLIT-

2).⁷³ All other study processes remained the same as in the QuLIT-1 trial. 152 individuals who smoked attended on intervention days and 163 on usual care days, with 112 and 115 smokers respectively providing 3-month follow up data and 32 and 14 smokers reporting 7-day point prevalent smoking abstinence smoking (21.1% and 8.6% respectively, assuming those not contactable were continuing to smoke). Of note, 80 smokers (52.6%) attending on intervention days explicitly declined contact from the smoking cessation specialist and a further 16 dropped out after the initial consultation. The study also found no difference in quit rates between those individuals receiving a CT scan and those who did not, highlighting the importance of offering smoking cessation support to all those participating in the TLHC, not only those at a high enough risk to be eligible for LDCT screening.⁷³

The provision of smoking cessation support at the Manchester TLHC site is linked with the Conversation, Understand, Replace, Experts and evidence-based treatments (CURE) project.⁷⁴ A tobacco dependency specialist nurse is co-located with the LHC and provides support and direct supply of two weeks of NRT/4 weeks of vaping supplies on an opt-out basis. After the initial consultation, individuals are offered a referral to the local community smoking cessation service to complete a full treatment programme. In the six months between October 2021 and March 2022, 462 smokers attended for a LHC, 436 (94%) completed the CURE intervention on the mobile LHC unit and 193 (44%) accepted referral to the community smoking cessation service. 177 engaged with the smoking cessation service, representing 92% of all referrals and 38% of all smokers attending for a LHC (M. Evison, personal communication, 8 May 2022).

The Yorkshire Enhanced Stop Smoking study (YESS) is testing the uptake and effectiveness of a co-located, opt out smoking cessation delivery model offered to all smokers attending for a LHC⁷⁵ as part of the Yorkshire Lung Screening Trial (YLST)⁷⁶ between December 2018 and December 2020. Smoking cessation support was offered in line with National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) PH48 guidance comprising one session of behavioural support at the time of the LHC and provision of pharmacotherapy. Pharmacotherapy was either nicotine replacement therapy through delegated prescribing at the visit and/or a commercially available e-cigarette and vaping supplies, or an arranged GP prescription for varenicline or bupropion). Follow-up contact was provided either face-to-face or by telephone. It was typically provided weekly, but the frequency could be varied according to participant preference. Contact was provided for up to 4 weeks from the date of the LHC with replenishment of quit aids on a biweekly basis for any individuals engaging with a quit attempt. Recruitment to the study paused for three months during the Covid-19 pandemic, though ongoing support to patients continued via telephone with quit aids sent via post. Following resumption of the study, the baseline visit returned to a face-to-face counselling session, but all subsequent interactions were via telephone and guit aids continued to be dispensed by post. The Covid-19 pandemic necessitated a change in delivery model to telephone only support for all visits after the initial consultation as

11

opposed to face-to-face. However, both smoking cessation practitioners and participants reported still building a strong rapport through regular phone calls and did not feel this had a negative impact on their experience.

The study found that of 2150 eligible smokers attending for lung cancer screening, 89% of smokers agreed to a consultation with the smoking cessation practitioner at the time of the screening appointment. Of these, 84.5% agreed to ongoing cessation support and 20.1% of these were self-reported quit at 4 weeks (16.5% validated) (15% self-reported;12.4% validated of all eligible smokers).

The YESS study also tested the efficacy of adding a personalized intervention comprising the use of heart and lung images captured during the LDCT scan, highlighting areas of coronary artery calcification and emphysema, as part of the smoking cessation intervention delivered at the 4-week follow up, in a randomized controlled trial. Of 1003 participants, 7-day validated point prevalent quit rates at 3-months were 33.6% in the intervention group, 30.0% in the ongoing standard smoking cessation support delivered by the dedicated team of SCPs. There was no significant difference between study arms, but the personalised intervention resulted in significantly higher quit rates in females as compared to standard treatment. 7-day validated point prevalent quit rates at 12-months were 29.2% and 28.6% respectively.⁷⁷

The YESS model is continuing into the second round of LCS as part of YLST and is offering smoking cessation support to individuals who were unsuccessful in their quit attempt, who declined to accept smoking cessation support or did not attend for the baseline screening round. Whilst still ongoing, the sustained offer of smoking cessation support is again being well received, with the majority of smokers who declined a consultation in the baseline round now agreeing to see a smoking cessation practitioner. Many smokers declining support or making an unsuccessful quit attempt report that it was just 'not the right time for them', despite being motivated to try and stop smoking.

2.5 Attitudes towards smoking cessation within LCS

There is a body of published research which suggests that individuals eligible for LCS believe the offer of smoking cessation support is acceptable as part of the screening process.^{78,79}

In a survey of 459 current smokers and recent quitters aged 50-75 who indicated that they would attend lung screening if invited, the most selected preference (37.7%) was to receive lifestyle advice (including smoking, alcohol consumption, weight, diet and physical activity) at the time of the screening appointment, and 30.5% at the time of the screening results. Only 14.6% of respondents suggested that they would prefer to receive lifestyle advice at a later date.

Interest was highest for smoking cessation at 41% (increasing to 51% of current smokers).⁸⁰ More recently, in a qualitative study of 31 participants who would be eligible for LCS, the integration of smoking cessation into LCS in the UK was viewed positively, with participants reporting it necessary and expected.⁸¹ A key factor reported as likely to encourage uptake was the availability of a non-judgmental and accessible service, along with provision of personalised information regarding the impact of smoking on their health.

An embedded process evaluation undertaken as part of the YESS trial has shown that individuals attending for LHC expected to discuss smoking and it did not surprise them; some even indicated that they had attended the LHC in the hope of receiving support to stop smoking. They found the offer of smoking cessation support acceptable, largely due to the lack of stigma, the non-judgemental style of discussion and positive support they received from smoking cessation practitioners at the time of the LHC. The co-location of the smoking cessation service alongside the LHC reduced burden on the participants as they were provided with behavioural and pharmacological support straight away, not referred on to someone else or another service where there may be a delay in receiving support. Those that did not want to take up smoking cessation support at the time of the LHC did so because it was not the right time for them, not because they felt it was unacceptable to offer smoking cessation in a LHC context.

3. Current smoking cessation provision on TLHC programme

3.1 Formal national evaluation

NHSE is conducting a national evaluation of the TLHC programme to understand the impacts and economics of the programme and has collected data from existing TLHC sites during the two years from December 2019 to December 2021. TLHC are requested to provide the following information relating to smoking cessation:

- Number of patients who were offered the option of a smoking cessation course*
- Number of patients who accepted an offer of a smoking cessation course
- Number of patients who completed a smoking cessation course

An evaluation progress report of the TLHC programme from December 2021 included interview data from programme stakeholders and participants and survey data from participants and nonattendees provides information on progress of the TLHC to August 2021.⁸² Seven percent of attendees at a LHC reported attending the appointment because they thought it might help them to reduce or stop smoking, increasing to 31% in those who had smoked within the previous week. Only around half of current smokers (54%) reported receiving advice on quitting or reducing smoking (usually taking the form of very brief advice, with or without referral to support services), with 82% reporting that they found this advice helpful. Qualitative feedback was mixed, with some respondents reporting feelings of surprise and disappointment and not receiving any advice around smoking cessation. A number of participants who did receive advice reported negative experiences such as lack of eligibility to attend, or lack of follow up following referral to community services and feelings of disappointment resulting from this lack of support. Others reported feeling encouraged to try and stop smoking as a result of the advice provided at their LHC, though some did not intend to change their behaviour as they did not see the value in doing so.

^{*} Standard 10 in the Quality Assurance Standards for the TLHC programme states that "smoking cessation support should be offered to all participants at their lung health check, including those who are ineligible for LDCT. Where possible this should be provided in the immediate lung health check setting and include offer of pharmacotherapy."

3.2. Analysis of routine performance data

Project sites have reported varying degrees of information on smoking cessation data (Figure 1). 5 of 23 sites consistently reported all three smoking cessation indicators for the six months between July and December 2021.



Figure 1: National site reporting of TLHC performance data, December 2021

As of December 2021, a total of 12,266 participants had been offered a smoking cessation course, of which 4,367 accepted the offer (36%). It should be noted that despite the guidance regarding smoking cessation, delivery remains at the discretion of individual sites and varied from zero provision to an initial onsite appointment with provision of stop smoking aids followed by referral to community services. Of those offered support, 467 participants completed the course (11%) (Figure 2). For context, 44% of smokers at the Manchester TLHC, linked to the CURE project accepted a referral to a community smoking cessation service, with 37% engaging with the service. For those on the YESS trial, 89% of smokers agreed to a smoking cessation consultation, of which 84.5% agreed to ongoing cessation support and 20.1% of these were self-reported quit at 4 weeks (16.5% validated) (15% self-reported;12.4% validated of all eligible smokers attending for a LHC).

The numbers of those offered a smoking cessation course rose over the course of 2021. The proportion of those completing the course remained low, although this is likely affected by the time lag from accepting a smoking cessation course to completing the course, and by the incomplete data reporting highlighted in Figure 2. The estimate of the number of smokers participating in the THLC is based on responses from project site leads to the survey (see section 3.3). However, many site leads expressed uncertainty in their estimate and this figure should be interpreted with caution.

Figure 2: National invite to, acceptance of and completion of smoking cessation course on TLHC, December 2019 – December 2021



3.3. Survey of project leads for TLHC

In March 2022, a separate survey on smoking cessation was sent to all TLHC project leads by the authors of this report, specifically asking about smoking cessation provision within their site. The findings are reported below.

Responses

Responses were received from 16 of the 23 total project sites. One respondent submitted a response on behalf of two sites simultaneously and one respondent submitted a response on behalf of three sites simultaneously. There was no discernible pattern amongst sites that did not respond.

Project lead reporting of smoking cessation model

All 16 sites provided responses on their current operating model for smoking cessation and their ideal model for smoking cessation support (Figure 3). The most common existing model was a referral to a local service, either following an initial consultation and provision of quit aids (n=3) or brief intervention alone (n=8). One site had dedicated capacity within their local smoking cessation service to support TLHC patients, three sites simply signposted participants to local services, and one site had no local service to refer to.

Three sites did not feel that they were fully able to meet the THLC specification requirement to offer smoking cessation, with a further three sites reporting that they were partially meeting the specification. Nine of 16 sites reported they did not feel that they were effectively meeting the needs of participants who smoke, with factors such as no local service to refer to, a lack of

dedicated funding and insufficient staffing capacity cited as reasons. Further, seven sites reported that they did not feel their current model was sustainable in its current format.

When asked how they would like to be able to provide smoking cessation support if given the choice and opportunity, most indicated that they would like to offer an initial cessation consultation with provision of quit aids followed by referral to a local service (n = 8) or dedicated capacity in the service to offer full smoking cessation support (n=5).



Figure 3: Current and ideal smoking cessation models for THLC sites

4. Reflections on the integration of smoking cessation support

4.1 TLHC project leads

Project leads of TLHC programmes gave qualitative assessments on providing and evaluating smoking cessation support for those attending TLHCs. Several respondents flagged issues with data collection and reporting, including strong difficulties tracking patients all the way through to quits in external services for reasons including the use of different data collection software, multiple local smoking cessation providers for a TLHC site and differential provision of follow up data by smoking cessation providers. This may provide a partial explanation for the current low smoking cessation course uptake reported for THLC.

Those sites running in areas with operational smoking cessation provision for all NHS in-patients can offer initial consultation with quit aids through this provision. Some of these sites intend secure permission to also offer e-cigarettes as a quit aid. However, some of these sites faced issues where smoking cessation professionals faced long waits with no patients to see, particularly in areas with lower smoking rates, leaving smoking cessation professionals feeling under-utilised.

The degree to which patients are offered brief advice as well as a referral to a smoking cessation service varies, with some offering very brief advice and others offering longer consultations before onward referral. Some sites reported that their staff were not used to talking about smoking cessation. Having the ability to offer a choice of face-to-face or remote appointments was reported as a strength.

Reliance on self-referral was reported as inappropriate for a population group facing inequalities for whom making quit attempts is particularly difficult and for whom accessing services may not be straightforward.

Project leads made the following requests for national support:

- Dedicated funding for smoking cessation delivery as part of TLHC delivery
- Supporting data collection processes, and being understanding that local data collection processes will take some time to finalise
- Training for LHC nurses and others involved in supporting smoking cessation

4.2 Evidence from research studies

Reflections from the team running the YESS study revealed several considerations that may be useful to inform future decisions regarding the implementation of smoking cessation provision with SCS, alongside quantitative data on efficacy and effectiveness. Having a team of smoking cessation practitioners who are experienced in engaging with the high-risk group that are eligible for LCS was viewed as valuable. This population are often highly dependent with long and complex smoking histories and require specialist support, in much the same way that specialist advisors support pregnant women that smoke. Second, placing the smoking cessation as part of the LHC, both in terms of the staffing team and physical location was viewed as being important for maximising uptake of support offered as attendees considered the smoking cessation support as an integrated part of the LHC.

The co-location of the service was also convenient, since people accepting smoking cessation support did not need to make an additional trip to another location at another time, and the provision was made even more convenient by the direct supply of NRT/e-cigarettes at the time of the LHC and repeated provision of quitting aids for engaged individuals via post. The provision of e-cigarettes was valued; many of those trying to quit had preciously tried using NRT but not an e-cigarette and thus having something new to offer helped smoking cessation practitioners to engage with more reticent participants. The benefit of using personalised heart and lung images is still unclear, though there appears to be a positive effect in females that requires further investigation. However, the intervention has been positively received and has been a motivator in quit attempts, either supporting quitting or preventing relapse in individuals who had quit before receiving the intervention.⁷⁷

Similar reflections have been presented by the Manchester LHC site. The team reported that having specialist nurses on site to offer support and provide NRT/e-cigarettes on an opt-out basis was a strength of their service model and was a key factor in the high uptake rates. A continuity in the supply of e-cigarettes and liquids on the mobile LHC unit and in the community smoking cessation service was also viewed as a strength, providing a seamless transition between services. It was felt that the onward referral to the local smoking cessation service was a hindering factor (despite the community service being highly effective) and being able to offer follow up either on the mobile LHC unit or a virtual follow up service with delivery of NRT/e-cigarettes would increase engagement in follow up after the LHC.

5. Cost-effectiveness data for smoking cessation programmes linked to lung cancer screening

5.1 Existing modelling studies

Several studies have taken a simulation modelling approach to estimate the cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation services linked to lung cancer screening. Although the studies vary in their assumptions, populations, payer perspectives and specific smoking interventions, they all find that smoking cessation services linked with lung screening programmes are extremely likely to be cost-effective at their respective willingness-to-pay thresholds. Many of the studies found the cost per QALY of screening programmes was at least halved by adding a smoking cessation component (Table 2).

Table 2: Summary of research modelling cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation intervention as addition to lung cancer screening (base case estimates unless otherwise stated)												
ID	Year	Country	Lead	Screening	Screening	Smoking	Comparator	Perspective	Discount	Sensitivity	Cost per QALY estimate	Comments
			author	population	type	cessation				analyses		
1	2022	US	Cao ⁸³	50-80 with 20+ pack year smoking history	Repeat annual screening	Screening + 3 / 8 weeks telephone counselling plus nicotine replacement therapy	Screening w/o cessation support	6 month / lifetime societal	3%	2-way sensitivity analyses	4029 (2021 USD) (8- weeks telephone counselling compared to 3 weeks); dominated screening alone	Screening alone cost more and saved fewer QALYs than either telephone counselling strategy. Both counselling strategies are considered cost effective in the lung screening setting
2	2021	US	Cadham ⁸⁴	55-80 with 30 pack- year smoking history	Repeat annual screening	Various types of intervention modelled	Screening w/o cessation support	Lifetime societal	3%	1-and 2- way sensitivity analyses	555-5258 (2019 USD)	All smoking cessation interventions delivered with LCS likely to provide benefits at reasonable cost
3	2020	Canada	Evans ⁸⁵	55-74 with 30-pack year smoking history	Repeat annual screening	Screening + NRT, varenicline + individ. counselling offered up to 10x	Screening w/o cessation support	Lifetime public healthcare system	1.5%	Probabilisti c sensitive analyses	22,000 (2019 CND)	Recommend offering an intervention at each screen. Results are most sensitive to changes in quit rates. Probabilistic screening analysis found intervention was cost- effective 80% of the time if the cost- effectiveness threshold was \$50 000 per QALY gained.
4	2018	Canada	Gauvrea ⁸⁶	55-74 with 30-pack year smoking history	Unclear	Unclear	Screening w/o cessation support	Lifetime public healthcare system	1.5%	1-way sensitivity analyses	14,000 (CND, year unclear)	Meeting abstract
5	2016	Canada	Goffin ⁸⁷	55-74 with 30-pack year smoking history	Repeat biennial screening	Screening + single intervention + pharmacothe rapy	Screening w/o cessation support	10/20 years /lifetime, public healthcare system	3%	2-way sensitivity analyses	14,000 (screening + SC) compared to 31,000 (screening alone) (2008 CND) ^a	Varying the cost of the smoking cessation programme did not have a significant impact on the cost per QALY
6	2015	Canada	Goffin ⁸⁸	55-74 with 30-pack year smoking history	Repeat annual screening	Screening alone, screening + cessation intervention	No screening	Lifetime public healthcare system	3%	1-way sensitivity analyses	24,000 compared to 52,000 without the programme (2009 CND)	Halving of the cost per QALY compared to screening alone

^a *no single most likely estimate available – estimate taken from biennial optimistic scenario

Table 2: Summary of research modelling cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation intervention as addition to lung cancer screening (base case estimates unless otherwise stated)												
ID	Year	Country	Lead author	Screening population	Screening type	Smoking cessation intervention	Comparator	Perspective	Discount	Sensitivity analyses	Cost per QALY estimate	Comments
7	2013	US	Villlanti ⁸⁹	50-64 with 30-pack year smoking history	Repeat annual screening	Screening and 'light' cessation intervention	Screening w/o cessation support	15 year commercial payer	3%	2-way sensitivity analyses	16,198 to 23,185 (2012 USD)	
8	2011	US	McMahon ⁹⁰	50-74 with 30-pack year smoking history	Repeat annual screening	Screening + bupropion and/or NRT offered annually	Screening w/o cessation support	Lifetime societal	3%	2-way sensitivity analyses	12,500 to 69,400 additional benefits compared to screening alone (2006 USD)	Finds that cost- effectiveness of screening is likely strongly linked to achievable smoking cessation rates.

In addition to published cost-effectiveness studies, some early cost data is available for the YESS study.⁷⁷ The overall intervention cost was estimated at £175.10 (SD £77.50) per participant in the intervention group and £124 (SD £76.80) in the control group. The quit rates were 33.6% (n = 177) and 30% (n = 143) respectively. The cost per quitter at three months was £521.30 in the intervention group and £412.80 for the control group.

Many of the studies found that increased frequency of smoking cessation intervention offer (e.g. at each screening, rather than at the first screen alone), the greater the cost-effectiveness of intervention.

The most recent modelling study, published in 2021, modelled the cost-effectiveness of several different smoking cessation interventions, rather than a single intervention, and researchers were able to draw on most recent data on costs and benefits of screening and cessation provision. Cessation interventions remained cost-effective even at the lowest rate of assumed effectiveness, and base case scenarios ranged from an additional 555 USD per QALY for screening + electronic support + pharmacotherapy to 5258 USD for screening + individual counselling + pharmacotherapy. This is extremely cost effective when compared to the commonly used willingness-to-pay threshold of £20,000-£30,000 in the UK.⁹¹ The analysis also only considered lung cancer, not prevention of other diseases, which is likely to underestimate cost-effectiveness.

The costs of providing a cessation intervention to those eligible were largely offset by reducing the costs of screening (because some of those who quit smoking were no longer eligible for future screening) and lower cancer treatment costs for fewer lung cancer treatments.

The cost-effectiveness literature does not present strong evidence that a particular smoking cessation intervention is particularly cost-effective compared to another. Maximising quit rates are important as changes in quit rates can substantially change the cost-effectiveness of a programme.⁷⁴ However, the cost of the smoking cessation programme was not found to significantly affect the total cost-effectiveness of the intervention.⁷⁶

5.2 Modelling the likely impact of offering smoking cessation support as part of lung cancer screening

Researchers at UCL modelled the likely impact of offering smoking cessation support as part of lung cancer screening to the roughly 1.1 million eligible smokers with at least 30 pack years aged 55-74 in England. The estimates were based on several assumptions with data used from the Office for National Statistics, Cochrane reviews, the current report and the Smoking Toolkit Study (a population level survey of adults aged 16+). Full details can be found here https://osf.io/6hkpv/.

It was estimated that offering cessation support alongside lung cancer screening to smokers meeting risk criteria would result in an additional ~30k long term abstinent smokers aged 55 to 74. This would reduce smoking prevalence to 10.6% from 10.8% in this age group. This is a 0.24 percentage point reduction (or 2.23% relative reduction) in smoking prevalence. If the anticipated uptake of screening were higher (modelled as 51% responding to the invite and 87% of these attending screening) this would lead to a substantially greater number of abstinent smokers.

5.3 The cost of rolling out integrated smoking cessation with a national screening programme.

Combining the cost per participant in the YESS usual care group and the modelling work detailed in section 5.1 above, it is possible to estimate a cost to incorporate gold standard stop smoking support within a national screening programme. Offering 1-1 behavioural support plus medications/e-cigarettes to those engaging in a quit attempt for up to 12 weeks cost an estimated £124 per participant. On the basis that an estimated 519,491 smokers attend screening and 457,152 take up support offered this would result in an estimated cost of £56.7million in the first year of rollout.

6. Discussion and recommendations

There is little doubt that the TLHC programme, and the potential introduction of a national LCS screening programme, heralds an unprecedented opportunity to provide effective stop smoking support to a population at high risk of smoking related morbidity and mortality. Available cost-effectiveness data indicates that adding any kind of smoking cessation intervention to LCS is likely to be cost effective, even with the most intensive interventions. The findings of the Khan Review⁹² have also reinforced the need for reinvestment into stop smoking provision and so the timing is prime for a bold move to support quitting in the lung screen eligible population. In addition to published research, experience gained from the NHS TLHC pilots also provide essential real-life experience that should be considered to inform the design of any future intervention.

It is possible that attendees at LHCs are subject to a healthy adherer bias, whereby those attending for screening are more motivated and likely to quit smoking,⁹³ and indeed this may be suggested in the results of many of the research studies reported where no or minimal smoking cessation intervention is provided. It is proven that quit attempts are more likely to be successful if made with evidence-based support,³⁷ making it even more important to offer of an effective intervention to capitalise on the 'teachable moment' that has promoted an individual with a smoking history that spans decades to make a quit attempt and so it is not sufficient to rely on this healthy adherer bias to achieve optimal quit rates.

There is no definitive answer as to the most effective way to provide stop smoking support specifically in LCS settings. However, drawing on the research that has been described previously and other literature in the smoking cessation field can shed light on models of provision that should be considered. Overall, smokers who use smoking cessation services (behavioural support plus pharmacotherapy) to support a quit attempt are three times more likely to successfully quit than those who use no support.³⁷ In LHC/LCS research studies, a benefit has been shown of offering a more intensive (for example akin to smoking cessation services) versus less intensive stop smoking intervention (for example self-help materials, very brief advice, internet resources and referral to support), reinforcing the need to use evidence-based support and the additional benefit that can be gained through additional investment in provision.

Ensuring consistency between localities is, and will remain, a key challenge when implementing stop smoking support within TLHCs, particularly where there is no specification for provision and/or dedicated funding. Disparities are already clear when examining provision within existing TLHC sites, with at least one site reporting that they have no community SSS to refer to. Nationally, only three quarters of local councils were able to provide some form of dedicated smoking cessation service in 2021⁴⁰ and so the current position is likely to worsen if a national

screening programme is rolled out. In areas that there is a community smoking cessation service, lengthy waiting times have been reported for appointments which will fail to capitalise on the 'teachable moment'. There is thus a potential that the national screening programme could actually widen health inequalities if smoking cessation is not meaningfully considered and embedded.

Research has showed that a dedicated stop smoking service, co-located within the mobile LHC and presented as an 'opt-out' model is effective and ensures immediate, convenient and accessible intervention.^{74,94} The importance of having an on-site SCP is further inferred from the QuLIT 2 trial, where over half of eligible smokers declined contact from a SCP when the offer comprised a telephone call to be delivered after the LHC (as necessitated by protocol changes due to the Covid-19 pandemic).⁷³ Despite this high decline rate, however, 7-day point prevalent quit rates were similar between the QuLIT-1 and QuLIT-2 trials, suggesting that remote provision of support may still effectively capture those people who are likely to make a successful quit attempt.^{58,73} Though the initial consultation was delivered face to face at the time of the LHC the YESS study also used telephone support, following an initial face to face consultation, as a result of protocol changes necessitated by the Covid-19 pandemic. Unpublished data illustrates that there was no negative impact of delivering cessation support by telephone, and this could thus prove to be an effective model for consideration alongside a national screening programme.

The efficacy of opt-out delivery of smoking cessation support has been shown in secondary care and pregnancy settings^{95,96} and it is therefore not surprising that similar results have been demonstrated in the LHC environment. The opt-out model helps to embed the smoking cessation service into the LHC, presenting as a comprehensive package to those attending for screening and the effectiveness of the model meant that downtime was minimised. Further, having the team carry their own caseload of patients in the YESS study meant they were able to manage their time and utilise quieter times on the mobile unit to conduct telephone support for existing patients. There was, therefore, little time not effectively used by the SCP team in the case of non-attendance or refusal to meet with the SCP. Consideration would need to be given to efficient use of resource in areas with low smoking prevalence, though the impact of this could be minimised through modelling and partnership working with community or hospital-based services. Though the immediate provision of stop smoking support is important, and the evidence suggests that a proportion of smokers attending for a LHC do so in the hope they will be offered support to quit smoking, there will also be a proportion of smokers who will not be ready to make a quit attempt, for a variety of reasons. It is therefore important to consider whether provision can and should be made to contact those who decline stop smoking support at the time of their LHC and offer them support at a point in the future. The YESS model previously described has been embedded within the second round of screening as part of the Yorkshire Lung Screening Trial and individuals who declined support at the time of their initial appointment are accepting support at this later visit, providing an insight into the need for repeated offers of proactive support to this population.

Upon exploring current stop smoking support being provided as part of the TLHC, current site leads reported that whilst community services are highly effective, referring patients on to these services for follow up support is a hinderance (as also demonstrated via the low uptake of community referral in the Manchester LHC programme), and instead suggested that offering a virtual or mobile unit based follow up service would increase engagement. Indeed, this was illustrated in the Manchester LHC with a minority of those accepting stop smoking support at the mobile site accepting and attending ongoing community-based intervention. This would fit with the evidence provided above around the potential for a telephone or virtual service to be considered as part of LCS programmes.

In models where an initial consultation happens at the time of the LHC with onward referral to community SSSs, investigation is needed into how to reduce the drop off seen between the initial consultation and subsequent attendance at local services. The Manchester TLHC site, likely the most established and effective real-world model currently in operation, reports that over half of those accepting an initial consultation failed to accept the ongoing referral to community SSSs and only 38% engaged with the service. This compares to three quarters agreeing to ongoing support when delivered as part of a continuous service offered in the YESS study. This decline in participation has also been seen with referral to community SSSs following an opt-out hospital inpatient service⁹⁶ and so the finding is not unique to TLHC settings. To date, there have been few solutions identified to address these challenges.

When considering the content of an intervention, the availability of e-cigarettes may be important for this population to support attempts to quit smoking, though evidence as to their efficacy in this setting is mixed. The COSMOS-II study was the first to offer e-cigarettes in combination with behavioural support but found no difference in quit rates between those using nicotine containing e-cigarettes, non-nicotine containing e-cigarettes or behavioural support only.⁶⁶ The QuLIT-1 and QuLIT-2 trials did not offer e-cigarettes as part of their intervention but did report use, in 4% and 14% of trial participants respectively.^{58,73} The YESS trial offered e-cigarettes, with over 50% of participants accepting an e-cigarette (either alone or in combination with NRT), a slightly lower proportion than those accepting NRT but qualitative evaluation suggested that having 'something new to offer' in an e-cigarette to a population who had often unsuccessfully tried or used NRT was valuable.⁹⁴ Being provided free of charge also eliminated the barrier of a relatively high start-up cost of purchasing an e-cigarette, to a predominantly socio-economically deprived population, and thus the e-cigarette was a valuable addition to the intervention package. The Manchester THLC site also offer e-cigarettes to attendees, with the community SSS now providing the same e-cigarettes and liquids to ensure a seamless transition

for those accepting the onward referral. Further evidence is needed as to the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a quit aid in this population but given NICE now recommends nicotine-containing e-cigarettes⁴⁵ and the Khan Review has recommended that e-cigarettes are offered as a tool to help quit tobacco use⁹², consideration must be given to including provision of e-cigarettes in any stop smoking support provision within LHCs.

A further consideration which has received attention is the use of incidental findings captured during the LCS and how these can be integrated into the offer of support to stop smoking. The use of disease-specific health risks to support smoking cessation has been reported by Gilbert and colleagues who conducted a randomised controlled trial compared an individually tailored risk letter with an invitation to attend an introductory smoking cessation session to a standard generic letter advertising smoking cessation services. The personalised information was presented as a "Personal Health Risk Report" and included information on the participant's general health plus disease-specific health risks with the aim of making the individual aware of the personal health consequences of continuing to smoke, and their own individual risk of serious illness. The group receiving personalised risk information had significantly higher attendance at stop smoking service, higher completion of a 6-week NHS course and higher 6-month validated abstinence.⁹⁷ There is, therefore, potential to use data collected as part of the LHC to motivate and support attempts to quit. In particular, the prevalence of undiagnosed emphysema and coronary artery calcification may be expected to be high in the population of smokers undergoing LDCT scans, with individuals often asymptomatic and unaware of their status. Only one study to date has investigated the utilization of such images⁷⁵ and whilst the researchers reported a significant increase in quit rates amongst female participants, there was no overall population effect.⁷⁷ Until the evidence base grows, therefore, it is difficult to make recommendation as to the potential for, or appropriateness of, such an intervention to be integrated into LCS programmes.

Whilst the content and delivery mechanisms for stop smoking support within LCS can be informed by existing evidence, equally important is how interventions will be funded. There are multiple options for the funding of smoking cessation services associated with TLHCs in England. Although the bulk of current smoking cessation services are funded from local authority public health budgets, smoking cessation services for those in hospital, expectant mothers and partners, and for long term users of specialist mental health services will be funded by the NHS through the Long Term Plan and thus there is a precedent for NHS funding of SSS delivery in place of local authority. However, funding is allocated, there are several key principles to consider when devising funding arrangements to ensure a well-resourced and equitable provision.

The funding should be sufficient to provide high quality, effective and evidence-based support to all smokers attending for screening and should follow the delivery of stop smoking support regardless of the model of service delivery adopted, be that as a dedicated and integrated service as part of the LHC or delivered through community services. It would be unrealistic to expect existing community SSSs, funded by stretched public health departments, to develop and evaluate the services and pathways required to offer optimal smoking cessation support to those attending LHCs. In considering sufficient infrastructure, funding should include costs for recruiting and training smoking cessation practitioners. Following cuts to public health budgets in England, there is not a readily available pool of smoking cessation practitioners to draw upon. Responsibility for service and pathway development should be identified and appropriately funded. In a best-case scenario, the NHS and local smoking cessation support for LHCs. As recommended by both the independent Khan review⁹² and the All-Party Parliamentary Group for Smoking and Health,⁹⁸ this could be financed by a polluter pays industry levy if this funding mechanism is implemented.

Whilst investment in stop smoking support is an essential component of LHC programmes, quality standards and monitoring will be essential to ensure that money is being spent effectively and providing return on investment. In order to ensure both effective and equitable provision, every person that smokes who attends for a LHC should be offered intervention in line with current NICE guidance,⁴⁵ though as previously discussed this can only be achieved if sufficient funding is made available to all programmes. Consideration is needed as to what would be an acceptable uptake and quit rate, and this would vary according to the model implemented. Arguably most important is the uptake of support in order to give all attendees effective support to quit. Evidence has shown that the offer of stop smoking support embedded within and delivered at the time of the LHC can achieve acceptance rates of 88-94%^{63,94} (M. Evison personal communication, 8 May 2022) and so it would not be unreasonable to expect uptake rates of above at least 80% as a conservative approach if such a model were employed. Lower figures have been reported where this immediacy of support was not available, therefore minimum expectations for uptake of support should be adjusted accordingly if an alternative model is implemented. Quit rates will be an important measure of effectiveness, though subject to variation and influence from a number of factors. Quit rates are likely to be higher in more affluent areas than those which are more disadvantaged and are also subject to a number of individual and demographic characteristics and so variation is likely as the TLHC expands to more affluent areas, or as a national lung cancer screening programme is introduced. In this eventuality liaison with local SSSs to calculate target quit rates, accounting for geographic and local demographic factors, may be appropriate.

Conclusion

There is little doubt that the TLHC programme, and the potential introduction of a national LCS screening programme, heralds an unprecedented opportunity to provide effective stop smoking support to a population at high risk of smoking related morbidity and mortality. Available cost-effectiveness data indicates that adding any kind of smoking cessation intervention to LCS is likely to be cost effective, even with the most intensive interventions. Experience from the TLHC programme has indicated that a lack of specified approach or dedicated funding has resulted in geographical disparities in availability and a relatively low uptake of smoking cessation support. In contrast, co-location and integration of smoking cessation services within the LCS setting has demonstrated high uptake, acceptability and long term quit rates for relatively little additional investment. The potential benefits that can be gained through effective smoking cessation intervention in LCS settings extend well beyond lung cancer, with potential to narrow health inequalities if optimally delivered.

7. References

- 1. UK NSC. Lung cancer UK National Screening Committee (UK NSC) [Internet]. [cited 2022 Apr 21]. Available from: https://view-health-screening-recommendations.service.gov.uk/lung-cancer/
- The National Lung Screening Trial Research Team. Reduced Lung-Cancer Mortality with Low-Dose Computed Tomographic Screening. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2011 Jun 29;365(5):395–409. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1102873
- de Koning HJ, van der Aalst CM, de Jong PA, Scholten ET, Nackaerts K, Heuvelmans MA, et al. Reduced Lung-Cancer Mortality with Volume CT Screening in a Randomized Trial. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2020 Jan 29;382(6):503–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1911793
- Balata H, Ruparel M, O'Dowd E, Ledson M, Field JK, Duffy SW, et al. Analysis of the baseline performance of five UK lung cancer screening programmes. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1;161:136–40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.09.012
- 5. Exeter Test Group and Health Economics Group. Interim report on the costeffectiveness of low dose computed tomography (LDCT) screening for lung cancer in high risk individuals. London; 2022.
- 6. UK National Screening Committee. UK NSC recommends introduction of targeted lung cancer screening [Internet]. [cited 2022 Oct 3]. Available from: https://nationalscreening.blog.gov.uk/2022/09/29/uk-nsc-recommends-introduction-of-targeted-lung-cancer-screening/
- A U.S. Public Health Service report. A Clinical Practice Guideline for Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update. Am J Prev Med [Internet]. 2008 Aug 1 [cited 2022 May 24];35(2):158–76. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0749379708003322
- Baldwin D, Callister M, Akram A, Cane P, Draffan J, Franks K, et al. British Thoracic Society quality standards for the investigation and management of pulmonary nodules. BMJ Open Respir Res [Internet]. 2018 Apr 1;5(1):e000273. Available from: http://bmjopenrespres.bmj.com/content/5/1/e000273.abstract
- Siu AL, U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Behavioral and Pharmacotherapy Interventions for Tobacco Smoking Cessation in Adults, Including Pregnant Women: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2015 Oct 20;163(8):622–34. Available from: https://doi.org/10.7326/M15-2023
- Fucito LM, Czabafy S, Hendricks PS, Kotsen C, Richardson D, Toll BA, et al. Pairing smoking-cessation services with lung cancer screening: A clinical guideline from the Association for the Treatment of Tobacco Use and Dependence and the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco. Cancer [Internet]. 2016 Apr 15;122(8):1150–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.29926
- 11. Wood DE, Kazerooni EA, Baum SL, Eapen GA, Ettinger DS, Hou L, et al. Lung Cancer Screening, Version 3.2018, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw J Natl Compr Canc Netw [Internet]. 2018;16(4):412–41. Available from: https://jnccn.org/view/journals/jnccn/16/4/article-p412.xml
- Kauczor H-U, Baird A-M, Blum TG, Bonomo L, Bostantzoglou C, Burghuber O, et al. ESR/ERS statement paper on lung cancer screening. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1;55(2):1900506. Available from: http://erj.ersjournals.com/content/55/2/1900506.abstract
- 13. Lawson PJ, Flocke SA. Teachable moments for health behavior change: A concept analysis. Patient Educ Couns [Internet]. 2009;76(1):25–30. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0738399108005831

- 14. McBride CM, Emmons KM, Lipkus IM. Understanding the potential of teachable moments: the case of smoking cessation. Health Educ Res [Internet]. 2003 Apr 1;18(2):156–70. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/her/18.2.156
- 15. Kathuria H, Koppelman E, Borrelli B, Slatore CG, Clark JA, Lasser KE, et al. Patient– Physician Discussions on Lung Cancer Screening: A Missed Teachable Moment to Promote Smoking Cessation. Nicotine Tob Res [Internet]. 2020 Mar 16;22(3):431–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/nty254
- 16. Taylor KL, Cox LS, Zincke N, Mehta L, McGuire C, Gelmann E. Lung cancer screening as a teachable moment for smoking cessation. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2007 Apr 1;56(1):125–34. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2006.11.015
- 17. Deppen SA, Grogan EL, Aldrich MC, Massion PP. Lung Cancer Screening and Smoking Cessation: A Teachable Moment? JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst [Internet]. 2014 Jun 1;106(6):dju122. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju122
- van der Aalst CM, van den Bergh KAM, Willemsen MC, de Koning HJ, van Klaveren RJ. Lung cancer screening and smoking abstinence: 2 year follow-up data from the Dutch– Belgian randomised controlled lung cancer screening trial. Thorax [Internet]. 2010 Jul 1;65(7):600 LP – 605. Available from: http://thorax.bmj.com/content/65/7/600.abstract
- 19. Quaife SL, Marlow LA V, McEwen A, Janes SM, Wardle J. Attitudes towards lung cancer screening in socioeconomically deprived and heavy smoking communities: informing screening communication. Health Expect [Internet]. 2016/07/11. 2017 Aug;20(4):563–73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27397651
- 20. Balata H, Traverse-Healy L, Blandin-Knight S, Armitage C, Barber P, Colligan D, et al. Attending community-based lung cancer screening influences smoking behaviour in deprived populations. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1;139:41–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.10.025
- 21. Kummer S, Waller J, Ruparel M, Cass J, Janes SM, Quaife SL. Mapping the spectrum of psychological and behavioural responses to low-dose CT lung cancer screening offered within a Lung Health Check. Heal Expect [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1;23(2):433–41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13030
- 22. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US) Atlanta, GA; 2014.
- 23. Cancer Research UK. https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancerstatistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/lung-cancer/risk-factors [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 May 26]. Available from: https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/healthprofessional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/lung-cancer/risk-factors#ref-2
- 24. Peto R, Lopez A, Boreham J. Mortality from smoking in developed countries 1950-2005 (or later) [Internet]. Oxford, UK; 2012. Available from: https://www.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/research/mortality-from-smoking-in-developed-countries-1950-2005-or-later
- 25. Islami F, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global trends of lung cancer mortality and smoking prevalence. Transl lung cancer Res [Internet]. 2015 Aug;4(4):327–38. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26380174
- 26. Gellert C, Schöttker B, Brenner H. Smoking and All-Cause Mortality in Older People: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med [Internet]. 2012 Jun 11;172(11):837–44. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2012.1397
- 27. Halpern MT, Gillespie BW, Warner KE. Patterns of absolute risk of lung cancer mortality

in former smokers. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1993;85(6):457-64.

- 28. Tanner NT, Kanodra NM, Gebregziabher M, Payne E, Halbert CH, Warren GW, et al. The Association between Smoking Abstinence and Mortality in the National Lung Screening Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2015 Oct 26;193(5):534–41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201507-14200C
- 29. Sheikh M, Mukeriya A, Shangina O, Brennan P, Zaridze D. Postdiagnosis Smoking Cessation and Reduced Risk for Lung Cancer Progression and Mortality. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2021 Jul 27;174(9):1232–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.7326/M21-0252
- 30. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Smoking cessation: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta; 2020.
- 31. Thun MJ, Carter BD, Feskanich D, Freedman ND, Prentice R, Lopez AD, et al. 50-Year Trends in Smoking-Related Mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2013 Jan 23;368(4):351–64. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa1211127
- Ruparel M, Quaife SL, Dickson JL, Horst C, Burke S, Taylor M, et al. Evaluation of cardiovascular risk in a lung cancer screening cohort. Thorax [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1;74(12):1140 LP – 1146. Available from: http://thorax.bmj.com/content/74/12/1140.abstract
- 33. Steiger D, Siddiqi MF, Yip R, Yankelevitz DF, Henschke CI, Henschke CI, et al. The importance of low-dose CT screening to identify emphysema in asymptomatic participants with and without a prior diagnosis of COPD. Clin Imaging [Internet]. 2021 Oct 1;78:136–41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinimag.2021.03.012
- 34. Cao P, Jeon J, Levy DT, Jayasekera JC, Cadham CJ, Mandelblatt JS, et al. Potential Impact of Cessation Interventions at the Point of Lung Cancer Screening on Lung Cancer and Overall Mortality in the United States. J Thorac Oncol [Internet]. 2020 Jul 1;15(7):1160–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtho.2020.02.008
- 35. Department of Health and Social Care. Long Term Conditions Compendium of Information: Third Edition [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2022 Jun 13]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/long-term-conditions-compendium-ofinformation-third-edition
- 36. NHS England. Targeted Screening for Lung Cancer with Low Radiation Dose Computed Tomography [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Feb 21]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/targeted-lung-healthchecks-standard-protocol-v1.pdf
- 37. West R, Papadakis S. Stop smoking services: increased chances of quitting. London; 2019.
- 38. Department of Health and Social Care. Public health ringfenced grant 2022 to 2023: local authority circular [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 10]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-2022-to-2023/public-health-ringfenced-grant-2022-to-2023-local-authority-circular
- 39. NHS Digital. Statistics on NHS Stop Smoking Services in England [Internet]. [cited 2022 Oct 3]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/statistical/statistics-on-nhs-stop-smoking-services-in-england
- 40. Action on Smoking and Health (ASH). Stepping up: The response of stop smoking services in England to the COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jan 24]. Available from: https://ash.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/ASH-CRUK-Stepping-Up-FINAL.pdf
- 41. Agrawal S, Mangera Z, Murray RL, Howle F, Evison M. Successes and Challenges of Implementing Tobacco Dependency Treatment in Health Care Institutions in England.

Vol. 29, Current Oncology . 2022.

- 42. Tobacco Advisory Group of the Royal College of Physicians. Hiding in plain sight: Treating tobacco dependency in the NHS [Internet]. London; 2018. Available from: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/file/10116/download?token=K05kvT-7
- 43. National Health Service. NHS Long Term Plan: Chapter 2: More NHS action on prevention and health inequalities [Internet]. National Health Service. 2019 [cited 2022 Mar 10]. p. 15. Available from: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
- 44. NHS England and NHS Improvement. Core20PLUS5 An approach to reducing health inequalities [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 10]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/
- 45. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Tobacco: preventing uptake, promoting quitting and treating dependence (NG209) [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng209
- 46. Moldovanu D, de Koning HJ, van der Aalst CM. Lung cancer screening and smoking cessation efforts. Transl Lung Cancer Res Vol 10, No 2 (February 2021) Transl Lung Cancer Res [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://tlcr.amegroups.com/article/view/46347
- Ashraf H, Tønnesen P, Holst Pedersen J, Dirksen A, Thorsen H, Døssing M. Effect of CT screening on smoking habits at 1-year follow-up in the Danish Lung Cancer Screening Trial (DLCST). Thorax [Internet]. 2009 May 1;64(5):388 LP 392. Available from: http://thorax.bmj.com/content/64/5/388.abstract
- Ashraf H, Saghir Z, Dirksen A, Pedersen JH, Thomsen LH, Døssing M, et al. Smoking habits in the randomised Danish Lung Cancer Screening Trial with low-dose CT: final results after a 5-year screening programme. Thorax [Internet]. 2014 Jun 1;69(6):574 LP – 579. Available from: http://thorax.bmj.com/content/69/6/574.abstract
- 49. Bade M, Bähr V, Brandt U, Eigentopf A, Brüchert T, Gross M-L, et al. Effect of smoking cessation counseling within a randomised study on early detection of lung cancer in Germany. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol [Internet]. 2016;142(5):959–68. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-015-2105-0
- 50. Brain K, Carter B, Lifford KJ, Burke O, Devaraj A, Baldwin DR, et al. Impact of low-dose CT screening on smoking cessation among high-risk participants in the UK Lung Cancer Screening Trial. Thorax [Internet]. 2017 Oct 1;72(10):912 LP – 918. Available from: http://thorax.bmj.com/content/72/10/912.abstract
- 51. Pistelli F, Aquilini F, Falaschi F, Puliti D, Ocello C, Lopes Pegna A, et al. Smoking Cessation in the ITALUNG Lung Cancer Screening: What Does "Teachable Moment" Mean? Nicotine Tob Res [Internet]. 2020 Aug 24;22(9):1484–91. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntz148
- 52. Clark MA, Gorelick JJ, Sicks JD, Park ER, Graham AL, Abrams DB, et al. The Relations Between False Positive and Negative Screens and Smoking Cessation and Relapse in the National Lung Screening Trial: Implications for Public Health. Nicotine Tob Res [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1;18(1):17–24. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntv037
- 53. Tammemägi MC, Berg CD, Riley TL, Cunningham CR, Taylor KL. Impact of Lung Cancer Screening Results on Smoking Cessation. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst [Internet]. 2014 Jun 1;106(6):dju084. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju084
- 54. Anderson CM, Yip R, Henschke CI, Yankelevitz DF, Ostroff JS, Burns DM. Smoking Cessation and Relapse during a Lung Cancer Screening Program. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev [Internet]. 2009 Dec 3;18(12):3476–83. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0176

- 55. Townsend CO, Clark MM, Jett JR, Patten CA, Schroeder DR, Nirelli LM, et al. Relation between smoking cessation and receiving results from three annual spiral chest computed tomography scans for lung carcinoma screening. Cancer [Internet]. 2005 May 15;103(10):2154–62. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.21045
- 56. Styn MA, Land SR, Perkins KA, Wilson DO, Romkes M, Weissfeld JL. Smoking Behavior 1 Year after Computed Tomography Screening for Lung Cancer: Effect of Physician Referral for Abnormal CT Findings. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev [Internet]. 2009 Dec 3;18(12):3484–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0895
- Ostroff JS, Buckshee N, Mancuso CA, Yankelevitz DF, Henschke CI. Smoking Cessation Following CT Screening for Early Detection of Lung Cancer. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2001;33(6):613–21. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0091743501909351
- 58. Buttery SC, Williams P, Mweseli R, Philip KEJ, Sadaka A, Bartlett EJ, et al. Immediate smoking cessation support versus usual care in smokers attending a targeted lung health check: the QuLIT trial. BMJ Open Respir Res [Internet]. 2022 Feb 1;9(1):e001030. Available from: http://bmjopenrespres.bmj.com/content/9/1/e001030.abstract
- Iaccarino JM, Duran C, Slatore CG, Wiener RS, Kathuria H. Combining smoking cessation interventions with LDCT lung cancer screening: A systematic review. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2019;121:24–32. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0091743519300556
- 60. Cadham CJ, Jayasekera JC, Advani SM, Fallon SJ, Stephens JL, Braithwaite D, et al. Smoking cessation interventions for potential use in the lung cancer screening setting: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2019 Sep 1;135:205–16. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.06.024
- 61. Tremblay A, Taghizadeh N, Huang J, Kasowski D, MacEachern P, Burrowes P, et al. A Randomized Controlled Study of Integrated Smoking Cessation in a Lung Cancer Screening Program. J Thorac Oncol [Internet]. 2019 Sep 1;14(9):1528–37. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtho.2019.04.024
- 62. Tremblay A, Taghizadeh N, MacEachern P, Burrowes P, Graham AJ, Lam SC, et al. Two-Year Follow-Up of a Randomized Controlled Study of Integrated Smoking Cessation in a Lung Cancer Screening Program. JTO Clin Res Reports [Internet]. 2021;2(2):100097. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666364320301430
- 63. Evans W, Darling G, Miller B, Cameron E, Yu M, Tammemagi M. OA09.02 Acceptance of Smoking Cessation Services in Cancer Care Ontario's Lung Cancer Screening Pilot for People at High Risk. J Thorac Oncol [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1;13(10):S341. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtho.2018.08.282
- 64. Marshall HM, Courtney DA, Passmore LH, McCaul EM, Yang IA, Bowman R V, et al. Brief Tailored Smoking Cessation Counseling in a Lung Cancer Screening Population is Feasible: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. Nicotine Tob Res [Internet]. 2016 Jul 1;18(7):1665–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntw010
- 65. Taylor KL, Hagerman CJ, Luta G, Bellini PG, Stanton C, Abrams DB, et al. Preliminary evaluation of a telephone-based smoking cessation intervention in the lung cancer screening setting: A randomized clinical trial. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2017 Jun 1;108:242–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.01.020
- 66. Filippo L, Principe R, Cesario A, Apolone G, Carleo F, Ialongo P, et al. Smoking Cessation Intervention Within the Framework of a Lung Cancer Screening Program: Preliminary Results and Clinical Perspectives from the "Cosmos-II" Trial. Lung [Internet]. 2015;193(1):147–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00408-014-9661-y
- 67. Pozzi P, Munarini E, Bravi F, Rossi M, La Vecchia C, Boffi R, et al. A Combined Smoking

Cessation Intervention within a Lung Cancer Screening Trial: A Pilot Observational Study. Tumori J [Internet]. 2015 Feb 4;101(3):306–11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5301/tj.5000282

- 68. van der Aalst CM, de Koning HJ, van den Bergh KAM, Willemsen MC, van Klaveren RJ. The effectiveness of a computer-tailored smoking cessation intervention for participants in lung cancer screening: A randomised controlled trial. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2012 May 1;76(2):204–10. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2011.10.006
- 69. Clark MM, Cox LS, Jett JR, Patten CA, Schroeder DR, Nirelli LM, et al. Effectiveness of smoking cessation self-help materials in a lung cancer screening population. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2004 Apr 1;44(1):13–21. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2003.10.001
- 70. Lucchiari C, Masiero M, Mazzocco K, Veronesi G, Maisonneuve P, Jemos C, et al. Benefits of e-cigarettes in smoking reduction and in pulmonary health among chronic smokers undergoing a lung cancer screening program at 6 months. Addict Behav [Internet]. 2020;103:106222. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306460319301832
- 71. Joseph AM, Rothman AJ, Almirall D, Begnaud A, Chiles C, Cinciripini PM, et al. Lung Cancer Screening and Smoking Cessation Clinical Trials. SCALE (Smoking Cessation within the Context of Lung Cancer Screening) Collaboration. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2017 Oct 4;197(2):172–82. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201705-0909Cl
- 72. Taylor KL, Williams RM, Li T, Luta G, Smith L, Davis KM, et al. A Randomized Trial of Telephone-Based Smoking Cessation Treatment in the Lung Cancer Screening Setting. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst [Internet]. 2022 Jul 12;djac127. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djac127
- 73. Williams PJ, Philip KEJ, Gill NK, Flannery D, Buttery S, Bartlett EC, et al. Immediate, remote smoking cessation intervention in participants undergoing a targeted lung health check: QuLIT2 a randomised controlled trial. medRxiv [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1;2022.04.26.22274257. Available from: http://medrxiv.org/content/early/2022/04/27/2022.04.26.22274257.abstract
- 74. Evison M, Pearse C, Howle F, Baugh M, Huddart H, Ashton E, et al. Feasibility, uptake and impact of a hospital-wide tobacco addiction treatment pathway: Results from the CURE project pilot. Clin Med (Northfield II) [Internet]. 2020 Mar 1;20(2):196 LP – 202. Available from: http://www.rcpjournals.org/content/20/2/196.abstract
- 75. Murray RL, Brain K, Britton J, Quinn-Scoggins HD, Lewis S, McCutchan GM, et al. Yorkshire Enhanced Stop Smoking (YESS) study: a protocol for a randomised controlled trial to evaluate the effect of adding a personalised smoking cessation intervention to a lung cancer screening programme. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1;10(9):e037086. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/9/e037086.abstract
- 76. Crosbie PAJ, Gabe R, Simmonds I, Kennedy M, Rogerson S, Ahmed N, et al. Yorkshire Lung Screening Trial (YLST): protocol for a randomised controlled trial to evaluate invitation to community-based low-dose CT screening for lung cancer versus usual care in a targeted population at risk. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1;10(9):e037075. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/9/e037075.abstract
- 77. Murray RL, Brain K, Britton J, Lewis S, Thorley R, Baldwin D, et al. PL03.03 Personalised Smoking Cessation Support in a Lung Cancer Screening Programme: The Yorkshire Enhanced Stop Smoking Study (YESS). In: International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer 2022 World Conference. Vienna, Austria; 2022.
- 78. Zeliadt SB, Heffner JL, Sayre G, Klein DE, Simons C, Williams J, et al. Attitudes and Perceptions About Smoking Cessation in the Context of Lung Cancer Screening. JAMA

Intern Med [Internet]. 2015 Sep 1;175(9):1530–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.3558

- 79. Carter-Harris L, Ceppa DP, Hanna N, Rawl SM. Lung cancer screening: what do longterm smokers know and believe? Heal Expect [Internet]. 2017 Feb 1;20(1):59–68. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12433
- Stevens C, Smith SG, Quaife SL, Vrinten C, Waller J, Beeken RJ. Interest in lifestyle advice at lung cancer screening: Determinants and preferences. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2019;128:1–5. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169500218306767
- Groves S, McCutchan G, Quaife SL, Murray RL, Ostroff JS, Brain K, et al. Attitudes towards the integration of smoking cessation into lung cancer screening in the United Kingdom: A qualitative study of individuals eligible to attend. Heal Expect [Internet]. 2022 May 5;n/a(n/a). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13513
- 82. Bowell S, Akhurst E, Hills D, Tuhou L, Lawrie M. Targeted lung health check programme evaluation progress report: December 2021 . 2021.
- 83. Cao P, Smith L, Mandelblatt JS, Jeon J, Taylor KL, Zhao A, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of a Telephone-Based Smoking Cessation Randomized Trial in the Lung Cancer Screening Setting. JNCI Cancer Spectr [Internet]. 2022 Aug 1;6(4):pkac048. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jncics/pkac048
- 84. Cadham CJ, Cao P, Jayasekera J, Taylor KL, Levy DT, Jeon J, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Smoking Cessation Interventions in the Lung Cancer Screening Setting: A Simulation Study. J Natl Cancer Inst [Internet]. 2021 Aug 2;113(8):1065–73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33484569
- 85. Evans WK, Gauvreau CL, Flanagan WM, Memon S, Yong JHE, Goffin JR, et al. Clinical impact and cost-effectiveness of integrating smoking cessation into lung cancer screening: a microsimulation model. C open [Internet]. 2020 Sep 22;8(3):E585–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32963023
- 86. Gauvreau C, Fitzgerald N, Flanagan W, Memon S, Goffin J, Miller A, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Smoking Cessation Within a Lung Cancer Screening Program in Canada. J Glob Oncol [Internet]. 2018 Sep 28;4(Supplement 2):41s-41s. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1200/jgo.18.26800
- 87. Goffin JR, Flanagan WM, Miller AB, Fitzgerald NR, Memon S, Wolfson MC, et al. Biennial lung cancer screening in Canada with smoking cessation—outcomes and cost-effectiveness. Lung Cancer [Internet]. 2016;101:98–103. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169500216304822
- 88. Goffin JR, Flanagan WM, Miller AB, Fitzgerald NR, Memon S, Wolfson MC, et al. Costeffectiveness of Lung Cancer Screening in Canada. JAMA Oncol [Internet]. 2015 Sep 1;1(6):807–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.2472
- Villanti AC, Jiang Y, Abrams DB, Pyenson BS. A Cost-Utility Analysis of Lung Cancer Screening and the Additional Benefits of Incorporating Smoking Cessation Interventions. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Aug 7;8(8):e71379. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071379
- 90. McMahon PM, Kong CY, Bouzan C, Weinstein MC, Cipriano LE, Tramontano AC, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Computed Tomography Screening for Lung Cancer in the United States. J Thorac Oncol [Internet]. 2011 Nov 1;6(11):1841–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.0b013e31822e59b3
- 91. Minacori R, Geale K, Geale K. Is there Evidence of a Difference Between Willingness to Pay and Willingness to Accept Thresholds? A Review of Nice Technology Appraisals. Value Heal [Internet]. 2016 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Mar 11];19(7):A492–3. Available from:

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1098301516322094

- 92. Khan J. The Khan review: Making smoking obsolete [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jun 13]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-khan-review-makingsmoking-obsolete
- 93. Ladova K, Vlcek J, Vytrisalova M, Maly J. Healthy adherer effect the pitfall in the interpretation of the effect of medication adherence on health outcomes. J Eval Clin Pract [Internet]. 2014 Apr 1;20(2):111–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12095
- 94. Murray RL, Brain K, Britton J, Quinn-Scoggins HD, Lewis S, McCutchan G, et al. Uptake and efficacy of a co-located, opt out smoking cessation support package delivered as part of a lung cancer screening programme: the Yorkshire Enhanced Stop Smoking Study (YESS). In: SRNT 2022. Baltimore; 2022. p. 37.
- 95. Campbell KA, Cooper S, Fahy SJ, Bowker K, Leonardi-Bee J, McEwen A, et al. 'Opt-out' referrals after identifying pregnant smokers using exhaled air carbon monoxide: impact on engagement with smoking cessation support. Tob Control [Internet]. 2017 May 1;26(3):300 LP 306. Available from: http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/26/3/300.abstract
- 96. Murray RL, Leonardi-Bee J, Marsh J, Jayes L, Li J, Parrott S, et al. Systematic identification and treatment of smokers by hospital based cessation practitioners in a secondary care setting: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ Br Med J [Internet]. 2013 Jul 8;347:f4004. Available from: http://www.bmj.com/content/347/bmj.f4004.abstract
- 97. Gilbert H, Sutton S, Morris R, Petersen I, Galton S, Wu Q, et al. Effectiveness of personalised risk information and taster sessions to increase the uptake of smoking cessation services (Start2quit): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet [Internet]. 2017;389(10071):823–33. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med14 &AN=28129989
- APPG on Smoking and Health. Delivering a Smokefree 2030: The All Party Parliamentary Group on Smoking and Health recommendations for the Tobacco Control Plan [Internet].
 2021. Available from: https://ash.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2021/06/APPGTCP2021.pdf